In the

Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

NEVADANS FOR REPRODUCTIVE FREEDOM, a political action committee,

Appellant,

vs.

DONNA WASHINGTON, an individual; COALITION FOR PARENTS AND CHILDREN, a political action committee; and FRANCISCO V. AGUILAR, in his official capacity as NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE,

Respondents.

Dec 08 2023 12:51 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 87681

First Judicial District Court Case No.: 23 OC 00115 1B

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

BRADLEY S. SCHRAGER, ESQ. (NSB 10217)
DANIEL BRAVO, ESQ. (NSB 13078)

BRAVO SCHRAGER LLP

6675 S. Tenaya Way, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89113

INTRODUCTION

For decades. U.S. Supreme Court precedent protected fundamental federal right to reproductive freedom, conceptualized as a "right of the *individual*, married or single, to be free from unwarranted governmental intrusion into matters so fundamentally affecting a person as the decision whether to bear or beget a child." Planned Parenthood of Se. Pa. v. Casey, 505 U.S. 833, 851 (1992) (opinion of O'Connor, Kennedy, and Souter, JJ.) (emphasis added) (quoting Eisenstadt v. Baird, 405 U.S. 438, 453 (1972)), overruled, Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Org., 597 U.S. 215 (2022). Initiative Petition C-01-2023 (the "Petition") would allow voters to restore that protection in Nevada by establishing a similar "fundamental [state] right to reproductive freedom, which entails the right to make and effectuate decisions about all matters relating to pregnancy." JA 0015.

The district court barred the Petition from being presented to voters based on the inexplicable conclusion that restoring a fundamental right that comprised a single federal-law doctrine for decades necessarily involves more than one subject, along with minor objections to word choices in the Petition's description of effect and an entirely hypothetical

concern that the Petition could cause an expenditure of state funds. Each of those conclusions was error. The Petition concerns a single subject: the restoration of a fundamental right to reproductive freedom. The description of effect concisely and accurately describes the Petition's significance. And the Petition will cause a government expenditure under the district court's theory *only if* a prosecutor chooses to prosecute someone for performing an abortion and chooses to retain an expert to do so—matters which the Petition in no respect requires.

The Court should reverse.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to N.R.A.P. 3A(b)(1) because it is an appeal from a final order resolving all claims presented to the district court, and pursuant to N.R.A.P. 3A(b)(3) because it is an appeal granting an injunction. The final order was entered on November 21, 2023. Notice of entry of the order was filed on November 27, 2023. The notice of appeal was filed on November 27, 2023. This appeal is timely because it was filed within 30 days after the entry of the final judgment as N.R.A.P. 4(a)(1) requires.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by this Court pursuant to N.R.A.P. 17(a)(3) because it is a case involving a ballot or election issue.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the district court incorrectly concluded that the Petition violates N.R.S. 295.009(1)(a)'s single-subject requirement, where the entire Petition is devoted to creating and defining a single right to reproductive freedom.
- 2. Whether the district court incorrectly concluded that the Petition's description of effect is misleading in violation of N.R.S. 295.009(1)(b), where the description provides a straightforward, succinct, and nonargumentative summary of the Petition's effects.
- 3. Whether the district court incorrectly concluded that the Petition contains an unfunded mandate in violation of Article 19, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution, where the Petition does not require the expenditure of money.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Lindsey Harmon filed the Petition on September 14, 2023, on behalf of Appellant Nevadans for Reproductive Freedom. The Petition seeks to add a new section to Article 1 of the Nevada Constitution protecting "a fundamental right to reproductive freedom, which entails the right to make and effectuate decisions about all matters relating to pregnancy, including, without limitation, prenatal care, childbirth, postpartum care, birth control, vasectomy, tubal ligation, abortion, abortion care, management of a miscarriage and infertility care." JA 0015.

On October 5, 2023, Respondents Donna Washington and Coalition for Parents and Children filed a complaint challenging the Petition in the First Judicial District Court, claiming that (1) the Petition violates N.R.S. 295.009(1)(a)'s single-subject requirement, JA 0004–07; (2) the Petition's description of effect is misleading because it omits certain details about the Petition's effects, JA 0007–09; and (3) the Petition contains an unfunded mandate because, among other things, it would make prosecuting reproductive health care providers more expensive, JA 0009–10. The complaint sought declaratory and injunctive relief that would prevent the Petition from being placed on the 2024 general-election ballot. JA 0010.

On November 21, 2023, the district court granted Respondents' challenge. This appeal immediately followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the wake of last year's *Dobbs* decision, citizens in states across the nation have accepted the U.S. Supreme Court's "return [of] the power to" regulate abortion "to the people and their elected representatives" by enacting constitutional amendments and statutes to safeguard the right to reproductive freedom. The Petition at issue in this appeal seeks to do precisely that: allow Nevada voters to choose for themselves whether or not their state constitution will protect the fundamental right to reproductive freedom, the federal version of which previously protected against "governmental intrusion into matters so fundamentally affecting a person as the decision whether to bear or beget a child." *Casey*, 505 U.S. at 851 (opinion of O'Connor, Kennedy, and Souter, JJ.) (quoting *Eisenstadt*, 405 U.S. at 453).

To restore that protection, the first subsection of the Petition defines a "fundamental right to reproductive freedom, which entails the right to make and effectuate decisions about all matters relating to pregnancy, including, without limitation, prenatal care, childbirth, postpartum care, birth control, vasectomy, tubal ligation, abortion, abortion care, management of a miscarriage and infertility care."

JA 0015. The following subsections further specify the contours of that right by creating an exception for regulation of post-viability abortions and specifying how the fundamental right applies in the context of particular types of state prosecutions. JA 0015–16.

The Petition's description of effect states in its entirety:

If enacted, this initiative would add a new section to Article I of the Nevada Constitution establishing a fundamental right to reproductive freedom. This initiative enables individuals to make and carry out decisions about matters relating to their pregnancies, including prenatal care, childbirth, postpartum care, birth control, vasectomies and tubal ligations, abortion and abortion care, and care for miscarriages and infertility.

If this measure is enacted, the State still may regulate provision of abortion care after fetal viability, except where medically indicated to protect the life or physical or mental health of the pregnant individual.

Under this measure, the State may not penalize, prosecute, or take adverse action against any individual based on the outcome of a pregnancy of the individual, or against any licensed health care provider who acts consistent with the applicable scope and practice of providing reproductive health care services to an individual who has granted their voluntary consent. Neither may the State penalize, prosecute, or take adverse action against any individual or entity for aiding or assisting another individual in the exercise of the rights established by this initiative.

JA 0017.

On September 28, 2023, the Fiscal Analysis Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau published a financial impact statement for

the Petition, stating that it "cannot determine whether the provisions of the Initiative . . . would have a financial effect upon the State or local governments with any reasonable degree of certainty." Financial Impact of the Initiative Petition to Amend the Nevada Constitution—Identifier: C-01-2023, Legis. Counsel Bureau (Sept. 28, 2023), https://www.nvsos.gov/sos/home/showpublisheddocument/12503/638338310336370000.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petition does not violate any of the requirements for Nevada constitutional initiatives, and the district court's conclusions to the contrary were in error.

First, the district court wrongly concluded that the Petition violates the single-subject requirement. The Petition has a single purpose: protecting the right to reproductive freedom, a unified right that was long established under federal constitutional law and that has been repeatedly recognized by other states' electorates, legislatures, and courts. That reproductive freedom covers various activities involving "a person's most basic decisions about family and parenthood," Casey, 505 U.S. at 849 (opinion of O'Connor, Kennedy, and Souter, JJ.), does not

change the fact that the Provision seeks to safeguard what has long been recognized as a single fundamental right. Each provision of the Petition is directly related to the protection of that single right, serving to either define the right to reproductive freedom or clarify how the right interacts with other areas of Nevada law. The district court's conclusion that the unrelated stemmed from both fundamental provisions are misunderstanding of the Petition's single purpose and a misapplication of this Court's single-subject precedent, which confirms that each provision is functionally related to one another because all are germane to the single subject of reproductive freedom.

Second, the district court wrongly concluded that the Petition's description of effect is legally insufficient. The Petition's description achieves precisely what is required under Nevada law: It provides a "straightforward, succinct, and nonargumentative summary of what the initiative is designed to achieve and how it intends to reach those goals." Helton v. Nev. Voters First PAC, 138 Nev., Adv. Op. 45, 512 P.3d 309, 316 (2022) (quoting Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs, 129 Nev. 35, 37, 293 P.3d 874, 876 (2013)). In reaching a contrary conclusion, the district court faulted the Petition for omitting details that it actually

contains, inappropriately applied principles of statutory interpretation to its analysis, and improperly adjudicated the substance of the Petition—all of which constitute errors necessitating reversal.

Third, the district court wrongly concluded that the Petition contains an unfunded mandate. The district court's finding that the Petition would require expenditures of state money was premised on pure speculation rather than the Petition's actual provisions, which do not require any prosecution and thus cannot possibly require the expenditure of state funds on expert witnesses—the sole basis for the district court's holding. Absent any evidence that the Petition's enactment would necessitate appropriated funds, and given that both the Petition's financial impact statement and the district court itself acknowledged that any necessary expenditures are mere possibilities, the district court's ruling should be reversed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case turns on the proper interpretation of N.R.S. 295.009; Article 19, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution; and the Petition. "Questions of law, including questions of constitutional interpretation and statutory construction, are reviewed de novo." *Peck v. Zipf*, 133 Nev.

890, 892, 407 P.3d 775, 778 (2017) (cleaned up); see also Helton, 512 P.3d at 313 (applying de novo review to petition challenge). "The party challenging the initiative petition bears the burden of demonstrating the proposed initiative is clearly invalid." Helton, 512 P.3d at 313.

ARGUMENT

The Petition satisfies the requirements imposed by N.R.S. 295.009 and the Nevada Constitution: It concerns a single subject, has an appropriate description of effect, and does not mandate the expenditure of any state funds.

I. The district court wrongly concluded that the Petition violates the single-subject requirement.

The Petition addresses a single subject: creating and defining a fundamental right to reproductive freedom. This right was an established feature of federal constitutional law for decades, and it is recognized as a unified right in states across the country. Each of the Petition's provisions furthers the sole objective of restoring a similar right for Nevada's citizens today. The district court reached a contrary conclusion only by insisting without evidentiary or legal basis that what has long been considered a single legal doctrine instead necessarily involves "a multitude of" unrelated subjects. JA 0142. Because the Petition

"embraces but one subject" and each of its provisions is "functionally related and germane to each other," N.R.S. 295.009(2), it satisfies the single-subject requirement.

A. The Petition has a single purpose: safeguarding the right to reproductive freedom.

"In considering single-subject challenges, the court must first determine the initiative's purpose or subject[.]" *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314. "To determine the initiative's purpose or subject," courts "look[] to its textual language and the proponents' arguments," as well as "whether the description of effect articulates an overarching purpose and explains how provisions relate to a single subject." *Id.* (quoting *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council*, 125 Nev. 165, 180, 208 P.3d 429, 439 (2009)).

Here, the Petition's text and description of effect both confirm that the Petition's sole subject is protecting the "fundamental right to reproductive freedom." JA 0015. As the description of effect explains, the Petition "would add a new section to Article 1 of the Nevada Constitution establishing a fundamental right to reproductive freedom," thus allowing "individuals to make and carry out decisions about matters relating to their pregnancies, including prenatal care, childbirth, postpartum care,

birth control, vasectomies and tubal ligations, abortion and abortion care, and care for miscarriages and infertility." JA 0017. Consistent with this description, each of the Petition's provisions either defines the contours of the right to reproductive freedom or clarifies the ability of the State to regulate reproductive freedom. No provision pertains to any other issue. The description of effect therefore "articulates an overarching purpose" that is neither undermined nor contradicted by any of the Petition's provisions. *Helton*, 512 P.3d at 314.

The district court reached a contrary conclusion only by disregarding the fundamental right to reproductive freedom itself and instead focusing exclusively on various specific activities that the right to reproductive freedom protects. JA 0142. The district court objected that the Petition would protect "prenatal care, childbirth, postpartum care, birth control, vasectomy, tubal ligation, abortion, abortion care, management of a miscarriage, and infertility care" and expressed bafflement as to how those matters could possibly relate to one another. JA 0142. But the linkage is both obvious—all of those matters relate to reproduction—and expressly specified in the Petition, which explains that they are encompassed by the fundamental right to reproductive

freedom that the Petition creates. Under the district court's reasoning, a petition to enshrine the "freedom of expression" would equally fail the single-subject rule on the ground that it protects such unrelated matters as books, newspapers, visual arts, music, and theater.

Moreover, the right to reproductive freedom that the Petition would create is an existing legal concept that was long recognized as protecting exactly the sort of activities that the Petition specifies, all of which involve "a person's most basic decisions about family and parenthood," including "the decision whether to bear or beget a child." *Casey*, 505 U.S. at 849, 851 (opinion of O'Connor, Kennedy, and Souter, JJ.) (quoting *Eisenstadt*, 405 U.S. at 453); *see also id.* at 927 (Blackmun, J., concurring in part, concurring in judgment in part, and dissenting in part) (describing constitutional protection for "such intimate family matters as procreation, childrearing, marriage, and contraceptive choice"). Indeed, a right to reproductive freedom comprising such activities has been repeatedly acknowledged by electorates, legislatures, and courts.

Ballot initiatives. The electorates of several states have adopted referenda recognizing a right to reproductive freedom similar to that contained in the Petition.

Last year, for example, Michigan voters approved a constitutional amendment recognizing that "[e]very individual has a fundamental right to reproductive freedom, which entails the right to make and effectuate decisions about all matters relating to pregnancy, including but not limited to prenatal care, childbirth, postpartum care, contraception, sterilization, abortion care, miscarriage management, and infertility care." Mich. Const. art. I, § 28. This mirrors the contours of the right to reproductive freedom described in the Petition.

Similarly, Ohio voters recently approved an amendment to their state constitution protecting the "right to make and carry out one's own reproductive decisions, including but not limited to decisions on" "contraception," "fertility treatment," "continuing one's own pregnancy," "miscarriage care," and "abortion." Ohio Const. art. I, § 22. They did so after the Ohio Supreme Court rejected a single-subject challenge to the initiative because "each provision relates to the single general purpose of protecting a person's reproductive rights." *State ex rel. DeBlase v. Ohio*

Ballot Bd., No. 2023-0388, 2023 WL 3749300, at *5 (Ohio June 1, 2023) (per curiam).¹

California voters approved a constitutional amendment last year to protect "an individual's reproductive freedom in their most intimate decisions, which includes their fundamental right to choose to have an abortion and their fundamental right to choose or refuse contraceptives." Cal. Const. art. I, § 1.1. Despite fierce legal opposition to reproductivefreedom initiatives across the country, this amendment was never challenged under California's single-subject rule, which is very similar to Nevada's. Compare Nevadans for Prot. of Prop. Rts., Inc. v. Heller, 122 Nev. 894, 906–07, 141 P.3d 1235, 1243–44 (2006) (petition provisions "must be 'functionally related' and 'germane' to one another" and to petition's purpose), with Senate v. Jones, 21 Cal. 4th 1142, 1157, 988 P.2d 1089, 1098 (1999) ("[A]n initiative measure does not violate the singlesubject requirement if, despite its varied collateral effects, all of its parts are reasonably germane to each other, and to the general purpose or object of the initiative." (cleaned up)).

¹ Although the precise contours of other states' single-subject rules might differ from Nevada's, that does not vitiate their persuasive authority. *See Helton*, 512 P.3d at 315 & n.4.

Statutes. Numerous state legislatures have recognized a right to reproductive freedom by statute. Colorado, for example, statutorily safeguards an individual's "fundamental right to make decisions about the individual's reproductive health care." Colo. Rev. Stat. § 25-6-403. Much as in the Petition, this single "fundamental right" covers a broad scope of reproductive activities, with "[r]eproductive health care" defined as "health care and other medical services related to the reproductive processes, functions, and systems at all stages of life," which "includes, but is not limited to, family planning and contraceptive care; abortion care; prenatal, postnatal, and delivery care; fertility care; sterilization services; and treatments for sexually transmitted infections and reproductive cancers." Id. § 25-6-402(4); see also, e.g., Minn. Stat. § 145.409 ("Reproductive health care includes, but is not limited to, contraception; sterilization; preconception care; maternity care; abortion care; family planning and fertility services; and counseling regarding care."); N.Y. Pub. reproductive health Health Law § 2599-aa ("comprehensive reproductive health care" includes contraception, sterilization, and abortion).

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