IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NEVADANS FOR REPRODUCTIVE FREEDOM, A POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,

Appellant,

v.

DONNA WASHINGTON, AN INDIVIDUAL; COALITION FOR PARENTS AND CHILDREN, A POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, AND FRANCISCO V. AGUILAR, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS THE NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Dec 29 2023 04:33 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Docket No. 87 Serk of Supreme Court
First Judicial District Court
Case No. 23-0C-00115-B

ANSWERING BRIEF

Jason D. Guinasso, Esq. (8478)
HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC
5371 Kietzke Lane
Reno, Nevada 89511
jguinasso@hutchlegal.com
(775) 853-8746

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

The second subsection of the Petition—by its plain language—applied exclusively to abortion. 1 JA 15. Indeed, this section expressly stated that "the State may regulate the provision of abortion care after fetal viability." *Id.* Yet, this subsection of the Petition is entirely silent on prenatal care, miscarriage, infertility, vasectomies, tubal ligations,

childbirth, postpartum care, and birth control. See id. Thus, it is unclear how there is an ascertainable framework between the second subsection's regulation of abortion and the first subsection's creation of rights to a litany of other topics that do not address abortion.

Likewise, the third subsection of the Petition prohibited prosecution based on the "outcome of the pregnancy of the individual." 1 JA 15. The third subsection further provides that this protection would extend to "miscarriage, stillbirth, and abortion." *Id.* Again, this subsection is silent as to many of the topics listed in the first subsection of the petition, *e.g.*, birth control, vasectomies, tubal ligation, and infertility care. It is unclear how there is an ascertainable framework between the third subsection's prohibition of prosecution against stillbirths, abortions, and miscarriages, and the first subsection's creation of rights to miscarriages, tubal ligations, postpartum care, etc.

The fourth subsection of the Petition prohibited prosecution against "a provider of health care" for "performing an abortion, providing abortion care to, or providing reproductive care services." 1 JA 15. It is unclear how barring the prosecution of a physician for performing an

abortion relates to miscarriage, infertility care, or prenatal care, postpartum care, or birth control. Again, no framework exists.

The fifth subsection of the Petition prohibited the State from penalizing, prosecuting, or taking adverse action against any individual or entity for aiding or assisting another person in exercising the right to reproductive freedom. 1 JA 15. Pragmatically, it is unclear how this subsection relates to birth control, vasectomies, prenatal care, postpartum care, and infertility care. In other words, this subsection would not apply to birth control because there is still a federal constitutional right to birth control. See Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 485-86 (1965). Instead, the clear import of the fifth subsection is that it protects interstate transportation for abortions in Nevada. This may very well be a policy decision the voters adopt as law, but it does not relate to topics such as birth control, prenatal care, etc.

In sum, the five subsections of the Petition fail to create an ascertainable, good faith, and sensible framework that is faithful to the holding of *Helton*. Specifically, the second through fifth subsections fail to contain a logical nexus to birth control, tubal ligations, vasectomies,

postnatal care, prenatal care, and infertility care. As such, this Petition fails to contain a single subject and is legally invalid under NRS 295.009.

While Appellant argues that the entire Petition falls under the umbrella of "the proposed right to reproductive freedom," see AOB 29, this is a disingenuous argument under Helton. For instance, this would be like lumping the mechanics of how voters vote—e.g., early voting, absentee ballots, machine voting, and paper ballots, among other things—into a Petition and stating that the framework is the right to have elections. See Helton, 138 Nev., Adv. Op. 45, 512 P.3d at 314. This Court set forth the notion that the mechanical aspects of a right fail to fall within a single framework. Here, the mechanics of reproductive freedom include topics such as vasectomies, tubal ligations, infertility care, postpartum care, birth control, and the other topics listed in subsection one of the Petition. This is not a framework.

This analysis is further supported by the fact that the Legislature was unable to reduce "reproductive freedom" to a single subject. As this Court is aware, the Legislature is obliged to enact legislation that "embrace[s] but one subject." See Nev. Const. art. 4, § 17. Existing statutes address reproductive health and underscore the breadth of the

Petition's import. For instance: (1) Birth Control is addressed in NRS 422.308, NRS 442.080, and NRS 449.1885; (2) Post-Partum and/or Prenatal Care is addressed in NRS 698A.0419, NRS 689C.194, NRS 689B.03785, NRS 422.27177, and other related statutes; (3) Miscarriage is addressed in NRS 614.4383; (4) Tubal Ligation is addressed in NRS 449.198; (5) Abortion is addressed in NRS 442.250, et seq., and NRS 689A.042; (6) Vasectomies are addressed in NRS 442.725; and (7) Infertility Care is addressed in NRS 126.510. This list, which includes only a partial recitation of applicable statutes, highlights the breadth of the Petition. In other words, if the Legislature could not reduce the abyss of matters that fall within the umbrella of "reproductive" health into a single subject, it is highly doubtful that the Petition does so. Rather, the Petition contains a litary of subjects that amounts to logrolling.

As noted, "logrolling occurs when two or more completely separate provisions are combined in a petition" *Helton*, 138 Nev., Adv. Op. 45, 512 P.3d at 315 (internal quotation marks omitted). This Petition clearly constitutes logrolling because there is simply no plausible and sufficiently articulable nexus between: infertility care and abortions, *or* postpartum care and abortions, *or* tubal ligations/vasectomies and

infertility care, or the prohibition of prosecutions of abortions and postpartum care, etc. One can clearly imagine the abundance of scenarios where the Petition's rights do not clearly relate to each other, except with a broad and highly general catchall term such as "reproductive freedom."

For these reasons, the topics in the first subsection of the Petition are not functionally related and/or germane to the remainder of the Petition. The district court correctly concluded that this Petition constitutes logrolling, fails to contain a single subject, and is violative of Nevada law. Thus, the district court correctly Declared that the Petition violates Nevada law and enjoined the Secretary of State from placing it on the ballot. Respectfully, this Court should AFFIRM.

2. Policy Considerations Support Affirmance

While Appellant contends that the district court's order violates the policy justifications of the single-subject rule, see AOB 32-35, Respondents respectfully but fundamentally disagree with this assertion.

The single-subject rule "facilitates the initiative process by preventing petition drafters from circulating confusing petitions that address multiple subjects." Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rts., Inc. v. Heller, 122 Nev. 894, 902, 141 P.3d 1235, 1240 (2006). This "prevent[s]

voter confusion and promote[s] informed decisions by narrowing the initiative to a single matter and providing information on that single matter to the voter." *Id.* at 1240-41 (quoting *Campbell v. Buckley*, 203 F.3d 738, 746 (10th Cir. 2000)). The single-subject rule further "prevents petitioners from gaining passage of provisions that would not otherwise become law by attaching them to more popular proposals or concealing them in a long and complex initiative." *Id.* (quoting *Campbell*, 203 F.3d at 746). In sum, the single-subject rule facilitates the democratic process.

Here, the Petition raises an abyss of pragmatic concerns by attempting to codify an abyss of topics. The Petition broadly creates a new fundamental right to vasectomies, tubal ligations, birth control, abortion, prenatal care, postpartum care, childbirth, infertility care, and management of a miscarriage. 1 JA 15. Yet, the Petition fails to explain how any right—other than abortion—will be implemented. In other words, there is no articulable method to confine, define, implement, or effectuate the rights of this proposed constitutional amendment, except for the right to abortion. Beyond creating an interpretive quagmire for this Court, it is unclear how the import of the Petition can be adequately explained to the voters. As previously discussed, the Legislature could

not confine these matters to a single subject. Yet, the Petition asks voters to create a fundamental right for all these topics without explaining what this right will do with respect to every topic other than abortion.

Resultingly, the voters are unlikely to understand—and make meaningful decisions—on whether they agree with the policies in the Petition, predominantly because the Petition does not define those policies for any topic other than abortion. As such, this Petition attempts to lump every conceivable topic relating to reproductive health into a single Petition. This is improper and violates the policies underlying the foregoing law. At bottom, this Petition is contrary to the democratic process because it simply fails to inform the voters of its import.

3. Foreign Authorities Were Not Cited Below

Appellant dedicates significant portions of its brief to citing laws from other jurisdictions to support the Petition. AOB 13-20. These authorities were not raised below in the briefing or at the hearing. See 1 JA 65-74 (containing Appellant's Memorandum of Points and Authorities); id. at 103-37 (containing the transcript of the hearing). Thus, neither Respondents nor the district court had the opportunity to address this caselaw below.

This Court should refuse to consider Appellant's citation to authorities from other jurisdictions because these points were not raised below. See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (stating that failure to raise a point in the district court deems it waived and prevents this court from considering it on appeal).

Here, Appellant has added a completely new analysis on appeal by citing to constitutional, statutory, and decisional authority of other states to support the Petition. See AOB 13-20. This is improper. These authorities should have been raised in the trial court so that Respondents had the opportunity to brief these contentions and discuss the same at oral argument. Likewise, the district court should have been allowed to rule on these authorities. This Court should deem this argument waived.

4. Appellant's Analysis of Foreign Laws is Misguided

Even if this Court considers the citation to authorities from other jurisdictions, it is unclear how these authorities apply directly to the instant analysis. Appellant merely cites a plethora of constitutional or statutory authority from Alaska, California, Colorado, Illinois, Kansa, New York, Michigan, Minnesota, Montana, New Jersey, and Ohio to support the proposition that similar laws exist. See AOB 13-20.

Respondents do not contest that this law exists. Respectfully, Appellant attempts to misguide this Court into believing that the existence of this law means that the district court erred in its legal analysis. Yet, Appellants have not explained how any of these foreign authorities tie into Nevada's caselaw and statutory law for initiative petitions.

Specifically, notably absent from Appellant's brief is any description of how most of these laws were *enacted*, any meaningful analysis of legal challenges to these laws based on the single-subject rule, a comparison between the single-subject rule in Nevada and the other jurisdictions, and *why* such authorities require reversal in this case. As such, Appellant's presentation of these authorities is unpersuasive.

For instance, Appellant cites Article 1, Section 22 of the Ohio Constitution to support this Petition. AOB 14-15. This Ohio Initiative Petition gave a right to reproductive freedom for "contraception," "fertility treatment," "continuing one's own pregnancy," "miscarriage care," and "abortion." Ohio Const. art 1, § 22. The Initiative Petition was challenged on the ground that it "contained two proposed constitutional amendments" in violation of Ohio Statute. State ex rel. DeBlase v. Ohio Ballot Bd., ____, N.E.3d ____, ___, 2023 WL 3749300, at *4 (Ohio, June 1,

2023) (citing Ohio Rev. Code. Ann. § 3505.062(A)). The Ohio Supreme Court noted that this statute simply required "the provisions of a proposed amendment be related to a single *general* purpose." *Id.* at 5 (emphasis added). Thus, the Ohio Supreme Court concluded that the provisions of the amendment all related to the single general purpose of "reproductive decisions." *See id.*

Unlike the legal analysis applied by the Ohio Supreme Court, Nevada law has more robust requirements for the single-subject rule. Indeed, Nevada does not have the simple "single general purpose" test. Instead, "[t]he court must first determine the initiative's purpose or subject and then determine if each provision is functionally related and germane to each other and the initiative's purpose or subject." *Helton*, 138 Nev., Adv. Op. 45, 512 P.3d at 314. Thus, the Ohio case is inapposite to this analysis because Nevada has a more stringent single-subject rule.

Appellant then cites California's reproductive-freedom law but concedes that it was never challenged under that State's single-subject rule. AOB 15. Thus, it is unclear how California's law is helpful to the instant analysis of the single-subject rule.

In sum, Appellant provides a loquacious citation to authorities from other jurisdictions but fails to explain how these authorities help resolve the instant analysis. As Respondents have shown, Ohio law is simply different than Nevada law and therefore is unpersuasive to this analysis. Appellant has not explained how any other foreign caselaw applies.

B. The Description of Effect is Misleading

Appellant argues that the district court made three legal errors when it concluded that the description of effect was misleading. See AOB 37-42. First, Appellant argues that the district court erred by concluding that the description of effect omitted crucial details. Id. at 37-39. Second, Appellant argues that the district erred by applying a "hyper-technical, word-by-word statutory analysis" of the description of effect. Id. at 39-40. Third, Appellant contends that the district court erred by incorporating substantive legal arguments into its analysis of the description of effect's language. Id. at 41-42. Each point is addressed.

NRS 295.009(a)(b) provides that the initiative petition must set forth in no more than 200 words "a description of effect of the initiative." "The description of effect facilitates the constitutional right to meaningfully engage in the initiative process by helping to prevent voter

confusion and promote informed decisions." *Helton*, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 45, 512 P.3d at 316. "A description of effect 'must be a straightforward, succinct, and nonargumentative summary of what the initiative is designed to achieve and how it intends to reach those goals." *Id.* (quoting *Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs*, 129 Nev. 35, 37, 293 P.3d 874, 876 (2013)). Also, a description of effect cannot be "deceptive or misleading." *Protect Nev. Jobs*, 129 Nev. at 42, 293 P.3d at 879 (internal quotation marks omitted). This Court has held that a description of effect is misleading if it "omits the need for or nature of the revenue source to fund" the proposal in the Petition. *See Educ. Freedom PAC v. Reid*, 138 Nev., Adv. Op. 47, 512 P.3d 296, 304 (2022).

1. Arguments are Raised for the First Time on Appeal

Respectfully, each of Appellant's arguments to challenge the district court's decision were not presented below. Compare AOB 37-42, with 1 JA 70-71. In the trial court briefing, Appellant provided a succinct and short analysis that said that the description of effect was set forth with "admirabl[e] clarity" and that Respondents simply "had a wish-list of political arguments." See 1 JA 71. Respondent did not address each of Respondents' points to argue that the description of effect was

misleading. See id. at 70-71. The district court specifically concluded that Appellant did "not identify how the description of effect adequately address[ed] the" concerns raised by Appellant. See 1 JA 147.

Thus, Appellant's robust arguments on appeal are likely waived because they were not presented below such that the district court could meaningfully rule on each of these points. See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (providing that issues not presented to the trial court are waived). Thus, this Court should summarily reject any challenge to the description of effect on appeal. Nonetheless, Respondents answer these arguments below.

2. Appellants Remaining Arguments are Unpersuasive

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